

### SAHLGRENSKA ACADEMY

# Accumulation of <sup>63</sup>Ni, <sup>106</sup>Ru and <sup>125</sup>Sb in phytoplankton

Master's thesis in Medical Physics

Yusuf Ali

Thesis: Program: Level: Semester/year: Supervisor: Examiner: 30 hp Medical Physics Second Cycle Spring 2022 Klara Insulander Björk, Rimon Thomas Magnus Båth

#### It is with genuine gratitude that I dedicate this work

#### to my Ayeeyo Khadiija Gure.

Dear ayeeyo, I wish you were here in this world to see how far I have come. It means a lot to me that you were there for me when I needed someone the most. The fact that you were already thinking about me when you were just coming out of a coma has made me the person I am today. I want to express my sincere gratitude to you for having you in my life, but I can not find suitable words to describe it. You are simply the definition of an irreplaceable gift to me and I will be forever indebted to you. May God reward you with Jannatul Firdaus and shower you with the wonderful things in it, Amen!

Master's thesis 2022

## Accumulation of $^{63}\mathrm{Ni},\,^{106}\mathrm{Ru}$ and $^{125}\mathrm{Sb}$ in phytoplankton

Yusuf Ali



#### UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Sahlgrenska academy Institute of Clinical Sciences Department of Medical Radiation Sciences UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG Gothenburg, Sweden 2022 Accumulation of  ${}^{63}$ Ni,  ${}^{106}$ Ru and  ${}^{125}$ Sb in phytoplankton

© Yusuf Ali, 2022.

Supervisor: Klara Insulander Björk, Rimon Thomas Examiner: Magnus Båth

Master's Thesis 2022 Institute of Clinical Sciences Department of Medical Radiation Sciences University of Gothenburg Gula stråket 2B SU/Sahlgrenska SE-41345 Gothenburg

Typeset in  ${\rm IAT}_{\rm E}{\rm X}$  Gothenburg, Sweden 2022

#### Abstract

Thesis:	30 hp
Program:	Medical Physics
Level:	Second Cycle
Semester/year:	Spring 2022
Supervisor:	Klara Insulander Björk, Rimon Thomas
Examiner:	Magnus Båth

**Background:** Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs) release small amounts of radionuclides which contribute with a low radiation dose to the environment as well as humans and animals. In this context, marine ecosystems are critical, since most NPPs in Sweden are located by the sea. The *Concentration Factor* (CF) is a model parameter that is used to study the transport and uptake of these radionuclides. However, the published CF values for many elements range across several orders of magnitude.

**Aims:** The aim of this project was to experimentally determine phytoplankton CF for some of the radionuclides released from various nuclear facilities in Sweden, in order to improve their uncertainties and to enable a more realistic dose assessment. The elements analyzed in this study were *nickel*, *ruthenium* and *antimony*.

Materials and Methods: Seawater samples from two separate stations (Anholt E and Karlsödjupet) near NPP in Sweden, were collected by SMHI. Phytoplankton were then cultured in these seawater samples with addition of relevant radionuclides and nutrients. The cultures were filtered when the phytoplankton concentration reached around  $1\cdot10^6$  cells/mL. A HPGe-detector was used to measure the activity of the filtrates and filters from <sup>106</sup>Ru and <sup>125</sup>Sb. Likewise, a liquid scintillation counter (LSC) was used to measure the activity of the samples containing <sup>63</sup>Ni.

**Results and Discussion:** The mean calculated phytoplankton dry weight were 33  $\pm$  8 and 26  $\pm$  4 pg for Anholt E and Karlsödjupet, respectively. The phytoplankton growth rates and dry weights in the different seawater samples were not significantly different. The mean calculated phytoplankton CF for the respective elements were as follows: 4000 and 3800 L/kg for Ni; 15000 and 20000 L/kg for Ru and 250 and 700 L/kg for Sb. The obtained values are in good agreement with published data.

**Conclusion:** The phytoplankton CF for the elements studied were as follows: 4000 and 3800 L/kg for Ni; 15000 and 20000 L/kg for Ru and 250 and 700 L/kg for Sb. The CF obtained in this study, had a smaller variation compared to the literature data, thus the uncertainties in the CF have been improved considerably. These CF will therefore provide a more realistic dose assessment.

**Keywords:** concentration factor (CF), phytoplankton, phaeodactylum tricornutum, uptake, radioactive releases, nickel, ruthenium, antimony, gamma spectroscopy, liquid scintillation counting.

### Contents

1	Intr	roduction 1
	1.1	Radioactive releases
	1.2	Phytoplankton
		1.2.1 Ecosystem models $\ldots 2$
	1.3	Previous data
		1.3.1 Nickel
		1.3.2 Ruthenium
		1.3.3 Antimony
	1.4	Aims
<b>2</b>	The	eory 5
	2.1	Gamma spectroscopy
		2.1.1 Semiconductor Detectors
		2.1.2 Spectrum analysis
		2.1.3 Detection of $^{106}$ Ru using gamma spectroscopy 6
	2.2	Liquid Scintillation Counting
	2.3	Concentration factor calculation
3	Ma	terials and Methods 9
	3.1	Seawater sampling
	3.2	Phytoplankton cultures
	3.3	Phytoplankton growth
	3.4	Filtration
	3.5	Phytoplankton dry weight determination
	3.6	Activity measurements
		3.6.1 Gamma spectroscopy
		3.6.2 Liquid Scintillation Counting 12
4	Res	ults and Discussion 15
	4.1	Phytoplankton growth
	4.2	Dry weight of phytoplankton
	4.3	Concentration factors
		4.3.1 Nickel
		4.3.2 Ruthenium
		4.3.3 Antimony

5 Conclusion	19
Acknowledgements	22
Bibliography	23
A Appendix	Ι

# 1

### Introduction

#### 1.1 Radioactive releases

During normal operation, Nuclear Power Plants (NPPs) and other nuclear facilities release small amounts of radioactive elements (radionuclides). These radionuclides contribute with a low radiation dose to the environment as well as humans and animals. However, this dose is generally far below the limiting values specified by the *Swedish Radiation Safety Authority* (SSM) [1, 2]. Generally, these releases are reported as activity expressed in Becquerel (Bq), but since the activity itself says very little about the effect of the released radionuclides, the corresponding radiation dose is expressed in millisievert (mSv). In Sweden, SSM states that the consequences of the releases shall be less than a radiation dose of 0.1 mSv per year to the so-called "representative person"<sup>1</sup> [3].

Among the most dose relevant radionuclides that are released to the air and marine environment are: <sup>3</sup>H, <sup>14</sup>C, <sup>51</sup>Cr, <sup>54</sup>Mn, <sup>58</sup>Co, <sup>60</sup>Co, <sup>65</sup>Zn, <sup>90</sup>Sr, <sup>99m</sup>Tc, <sup>110m</sup>Ag, <sup>125</sup>Sb, <sup>131</sup>I, <sup>134</sup>Cs, <sup>137</sup>Cs and <sup>152</sup>Eu [4]. In addition, Ringhals (nuclear power plant in Sweden) expects that the importance of nickel (Ni) will increase in connection with the decommissioning of two of the current reactors. Furthermore, ruthenium (Ru) is of importance when doses are calculated for a hypothetical conservative case where leaking fuel rods are considered. There are large uncertainties regarding the transport and uptake of some of these radionuclides into the marine environment, which means that their effects on health and the environment are uncertain. This is partly due to the complexity of the environment and the different uptake pathways in the food web (plankton - fish - humans), but also large uncertainties in some of the *Concentration Factors* (CF). CF are also used for dose calculation in connection with other releases such as nuclear reactor accidents or nuclear bomb detonations.

Although radiation doses during normal (and controlled) releases are far below regulatory limits, the large uncertainties and lack of knowledge present in the transport and uptake of radionuclides will be a major concern during unplanned releases. Thus, quantification of the radiation dose is necessary. In this context, marine ecosystems are critical, since most nuclear facilities in Sweden are located at the sea.

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ The "representative person" is a hypothetical group of people who, through their proximity to NPP and other nuclear facilities, receives the highest radiation doses.

Therefore, the focus in this project was to study the uptake of some of the doserelevant radionuclides in the primary producers of the marine food chain, namely the phytoplankton; particularly *Phaeodactylum Tricornutum* species which is common in marine ecosystems in Sweden [5].

#### 1.2 Phytoplankton

Diatoms are the most common type of phytoplankton and thus the basis of the marine food web [6]. They are generally found as a unicellular eukaryotic organisms with a diameter of 20 - 200  $\mu$ m [7]. The marine diatoms are said to be among the world's most successful organisms and perhaps the world's most important primary producers. This is due to their ability to live in freshwater, as well as marine and terrestrial environments [8]. Furthermore, they are the main producers of O<sub>2</sub> and consumers of CO<sub>2</sub> in the oceans [9]. Phytoplankton has a significant impact among organisms living in the hydrosphere of the environment, as a primary producer it can transform inorganic elements into organic elements through photosynthesis. Inorganic elements are matter that does not come from living organisms, for example, natural minerals and metals. Through this conversion process, e.g. the oxygen that we breathe in, is in fact extracted from carbon dioxide (which is an example of an inorganic elements) by the autotrophs such as phytoplankton [10, 11].

#### 1.2.1 Ecosystem models

It is important to study the transport of radionuclides through the various trophic levels to humans and in the environment. A common methodology is to use a model parameter called *Concentration Factor* (CF), which relates the concentration of an element in a medium (e.g. seawater) relative to the concentration in the organism under equilibrium conditions. CF are expressed in the unit L/kg. Furthermore, CF are not isotope-specific; for example, the CF for Ni applies to all Ni-isotopes. Both the ICRP and the IAEA have published recommended CF values for different elements in different organisms [12, 13]. However, the published CF values for many elements in these reports range across several orders of magnitude. This is partly due to the various chemical compositions of the water used in the uptake studies, but also because the CF values were established under different, and in some cases unknown experimental conditions. Furthermore, certain elements have been subject to a limited number of investigations, while for other elements, there are no publications (or not found to our knowledge) at CF for several organisms. Uncertainties in the CF may in turn contribute to significant uncertainties in modeling results [14].

The IAEA has compiled CF for many different elements in the report TECDOC-479 [12], and some CF vary over several orders of magnitude. Attempts were made to find additional sources for CF apart from the IAEA report, in order to identify CF that had a limited investigated data (e.g. Sb), but also to identify elements whose CF require a proper determination.

#### 1.3 Previous data

#### 1.3.1 Nickel

Nickel-63 (<sup>63</sup>Ni) has a half-life of 100 years and decays by  $\beta^-$ -emission into the stable isotope Copper-63 (<sup>63</sup>Cu). Among the Ni isotopes, <sup>63</sup>Ni is considered to be one of the main isotope of concern for a variety of environmental reasons [15]. Despite this, only three investigated samples were found in the literature, in which Ni-CF ranged from 160 to 1400 L/kg fresh weight [16, 17]. This corresponds to 900 - 7 800 L/kg dry weight, using IAEA's recommended conversion factor of 0.18 dry weight to fresh weight [12].

#### 1.3.2 Ruthenium

The radioactive isotope <sup>106</sup>Ru is also a pure  $\beta^-$  emitter with a half-life of 371.5 days. Again, only three CF data points are reported in IAEA TECDOC-479 [12]. Furthermore, these phytoplankton CF values vary from 54 to 10000 L/kg fresh weight; which approximately corresponds to 300 – 55500 L/kg dry weight using the same conversion factor as above [12]. In another study on the uptake of ruthenium by phytoplankton in seawater, a CF-value of ~300 kg/L dry weight at equilibrium was obtained [10].

#### 1.3.3 Antimony

Antimony-125 (<sup>125</sup>Sb) has a half-life of 2.8 years and emits  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -radiation. In a previous publication IAEA-TECDOC-211, only one CF data point of 1000 L/kg was found, although it is not clear whether this CF value refers to fresh weight or dry weight [18]. Antimony is an interesting element from a nuclear waste management perspective since it is a fission product and thus found in nuclear wastes [19]. It is also classified as a pollutant of priority interest both by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA, 1979) and the European Union (Council of the European Communities, 1976). In spite of its potential toxicity, very little is known about its behavior and uptake mechanisms in marine ecosystems [20].

#### 1.4 Aims

The aim of this project was to experimentally determine phytoplankton concentration factors (CF) for some of the radionuclides released from various nuclear facilities in Sweden, in order to improve their uncertainties and to enable a more realistic dose assessment [4]. The elements analyzed in this study were *nickel*, *ruthenium* and *antimony*.

#### 1. Introduction

### 2

### Theory

#### 2.1 Gamma spectroscopy

Gamma spectroscopy is a technique used to identify various gamma emitting radionuclides in a sample. Many radioactive elements emit photons with specific energies when they decay. By measuring the energy of the photon that is emitted, one can identify the existing radionuclides in the sample since each energy is a "fingerprint" on which radionuclide is present in the sample. This can be accomplished using semiconductor detectors [21].

#### 2.1.1 Semiconductor Detectors

Semiconductor detectors are solid-state radiation detectors consisting of e.g. silicon (Si) or germanium (Ge) atoms in a crystal structure, where the atoms are bound by covalent bonds. When incident ionizing radiation hits the detector and interacts with the detector material, so-called electronhole pairs are produced where the electrons are excited due to added radiation energy, as shown in Figure 2.1. The vacancy left in the valence band acts as a positive charge carrier. In a semiconductor detector, approximately 3 eV is re-



Figure 2.1: Schematic diagram of a semiconductor detector. Redrawn from [22].

quired to excite an electron to the conduction band [23]. By applying a voltage over the detector crystal, these charges are caused to move towards the poles and thus can be detected as an electric current. The measured current pulse (signal) is proportional to the deposited photon energy in the detector [23, 21]. The semiconductor detector used for this project is a High Purity Germanium (HPGe).

#### 2.1.2 Spectrum analysis

Using an integrated Analog-to-Digital Converter (ADC) and Multichannel Analyzer (MCA), the incoming signals from the HPGe detector were digitalized and transferred to a computer in the form of a gamma spectrum, where the obtained pulses were sorted into channels by their size. The gamma spectrum was then analyzed in *GammaVision* software to study the peaks to obtain the net area  $(A_n)$  used for calculation of the activity. The background (B) for each peak were subtracted by fitting a Gaussian distribution, see Figure 2.2. Net peak areas and their associated uncertainties were calculated by *GammaVision*.



Figure 2.2: Calculation details for Net peak area.  $A_n$  and  $A_{ag}$  are the net- and gross area. *B* is the background area, *l* and *h* is the Region of Interest (ROI) lowand high limit, respectively; and  $C_i$  is the number of counts registered for each channel *i*. Redrawn from [24].

The measured  $^{106}$ Ru and  $^{125}$ Sb activity, A, in Bq is given by:

$$\mathbf{A} = \frac{\mathbf{A}_{\mathbf{n}}}{\mathbf{\varepsilon} \cdot \mathbf{\gamma} \cdot \mathbf{t}} \tag{2.1}$$

where  $A_n$  is the net pulse counts from the respective radionuclide,  $\varepsilon$  is the detector efficiency,  $\gamma$  is the radiation yield and t is the measurement time for respective sample in seconds

#### 2.1.3 Detection of <sup>106</sup>Ru using gamma spectroscopy

The radioactive isotope <sup>106</sup>Ru is a pure  $\beta^-$ -emitter and decays to the ground state of <sup>106</sup>Rh which has a half-life of 30.1 seconds, and is therefore in secular equilibrium with <sup>106</sup>Ru after a short time. As <sup>106</sup>Rh in turn decays to <sup>106</sup>Pd, its decay is followed by emission of  $\gamma$ -rays from de-excitations of its daughter nucleus (<sup>106</sup>Pd), as shown in Figure 2.3. By detecting the  $\gamma$ -rays from <sup>106</sup>Rh, <sup>106</sup>Ru can be detected indirectly using gamma spectroscopy [25].



Figure 2.3: Simplified decay scheme for <sup>106</sup>Ru. Redrawn from [26].

#### 2.2 Liquid Scintillation Counting

A liquid scintillation counter (LSC) is a detector system that uses a liquid as a scintillator material for detecting particles with low penetration such as  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . When a particle passes through the scintillator medium, it excites the molecules and a scintillation light pulse is emitted. The light pulse is collected and converted into an electric pulse by a photomultiplier tube by means of a photocathode, while the pulse is amplified by a dynode chain and eventually detected by the electronics, see Figure 2.4. The light emitted (light intensity) is pro-



Figure 2.4: A principle schematic sketch showing the sequence of events in a LSC detection system. Redrawn from [27].

portional to the deposited energy by the incoming particle [23, 28]. A background measurement (blank sample) with no radionuclides added, was made in an identical manner to the samples containing radionuclides. The registered number of counts was then subtracted from the measurement of the samples. In that manner, any light sources that were not related to the actual scintillation or due to background radiation could be excluded from the measurements. The typical efficiency that can be achieved in a modern LSC (in the absence of significant quenching) is about 60% and 90% for <sup>3</sup>H and <sup>14</sup>C, respectively [29].

The activity of the radioactive samples A was calculated according to the following:

$$A = \frac{R - B}{\varepsilon} \tag{2.2}$$

where  $\varepsilon$  is the efficiency (obtained from the calibration in CPM per Bq)<sup>1</sup>, R is the measured count rate (counts per minute) and B is the background radiation (counts per minute).

#### 2.3 Concentration factor calculation

The Concentration factors for the different elements in seawater was calculated according to the following:

$$CF = \frac{\left(\frac{A_{\text{plankton}} - A_{\text{control filter}}}{m_{\text{plankton}}}\right)}{\left(\frac{A_{\text{filtrate}}}{V_{\text{filtrate}}}\right)}$$
(2.3)

where  $A_{plankton}$  is the radioactivity on phytoplankton filters,  $A_{control filter}$  is the average radioactivity adsorbed on the phytoplankton-free control filters<sup>2</sup>,  $m_{plankton}$  is the dry weight of the phytoplankton in kg,  $A_{filtrate}$  is the radioactivity in the medium (i.e. the filtrate) and  $V_{filtrate}$  is the volume of the filtrate in L (which was subject to measurement).

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ see equation 3.3  $^{2}$ see section 3.4. Filtration

### Materials and Methods

#### 3.1 Seawater sampling

Seawater samples from two separate stations near the Ringhals and Oskarshamn NPP, were collected by the Swedish Meteorological and Hydrological Institute (SMHI). These samples were collected in February 2022 at the cline, i.e. at a depth of 50 and 80 meters, sequentially from Anholt E (in Skagerrak; 32.86‰ salinity) and Karlsödjupet (in the Baltic Sea; 10.03‰ salinity). The location of the seawater sampling stations and associated data is shown in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1:	The geographic	location	of the	seawater	sampling stations.
------------	----------------	----------	--------	----------	--------------------

Sampling station	Sampling platform (code)	Sampling depth [m]	Latitude	Longitude
Anholt E	77 <b>S</b> F	50	56° 40.1142′ N	12° 6.6258′ E
Karlsödjupet	TIDE	80	57° 7.0302′ N	17° 40.1238′ E

#### 3.2 Phytoplankton cultures

The culture process started with the seawater samples being sterile filtered through a 0.2 µm polycarbonate membrane filter (*Cytiva Whatman<sup>TM</sup> Cyclopore<sup>TM</sup>*), in order to remove any dirt or living organisms from the seawater. The phytoplankton were then cultured in these filtered seawater samples with addition of the relevant radionuclides and nutrients in proportions according to (Guillard, 1975), under controlled light and temperature conditions [30]. The samples were exposed to 12 hours of light daily through cold white LED illumination (6000 K) with an intensity of 200  $\mu \text{Em}^{-2}\text{s}^{-1}$  [31]. The temperature fluctuated with the light; ranging from approximately 20 °C to 25 °C during the dark- and the light periods respectively.

Cultures consisted of 29 mL of sterile filtered seawater and 1 mL of phytoplankton culture, cultured in 50 mL polystyrene cell culture flasks with vented caps from (*Thermo Scientific<sup>TM</sup> Nunc<sup>TM</sup> EasYFlask<sup>TM</sup>*, *Nunclon<sup>TM</sup> Delta surface plasma treated*). Identical control samples were prepared with the same addition of radionuclides and nutrient concentrations, but with 30 mL of seawater without phytoplankton. The idea was to be able to observe if any radioactivity was sorbed to the control filters or the culture flasks after filtration.

Radionuclides studied in this thesis were selected based on either large uncertainties or limited investigations. The literature search included both the IAEA report and other sources. The radionuclides <sup>106</sup>Ru and <sup>125</sup>Sb were in the form of dissociated chloride salts with an activity concentration of 500 kBq/mL in a 6 M HCl solution (*Eckert & Ziegler Strahlen- und Medizintechnik AG, Berlin, Germany*). <sup>106</sup>Ru was diluted to 2.5 kBq/mL. <sup>63</sup>Ni with an activity concentration of 60 kBq/mL with a 0.5M HCl solution was obtained from Chalmers University of Technology. It was originally supplied with a radionuclide purity of 99.9% of <sup>63</sup>Ni (*PerkinElmer Life and Analytical Sciences 549 Albany Street, Boston*). There were a total number of 36 samples (including control samples) in the experiment, as shown in Table 3.2 below. The pH value of the radionuclide solution containing <sup>125</sup>Sb was about 2, therefore 63 µl of a 6M NaOH solution was added to the cultures to maintain neutral pH, i.e. identical to the seawater prior to the radionuclide addition. The pH values were estimated (readout) with pH indicator paper sticks (*Fisherbrand®*, *pH Indicator Paper Sticks*, *pHix 0-14*).

**Table 3.2:** An overview of the experiment with additional data on the radionuclides used.  $A_{\rm c}$  is the added activity concentration,  $N_{\rm s}$  and  $N_{\rm c}$  are the number of experiment- and control samples, respectively. Three replicates were used for each experiment.

Radionuclide	Sampling station	Initial $A_c [kBq/mL]$	$\mathbf{N}_{\mathrm{s}}$	$\mathbf{N}_{\mathrm{c}}$
63 <sub>N;</sub>	Anholt E	60		
111	Karlsödjupet	00		
106 <sub>B11</sub>	Anholt E	25	2	3
nu	Karlsödjupet	2.0	0	0
125sb	Anholt E	500	]	
50	Karlsödjupet	500		

#### 3.3 Phytoplankton growth

An automated cell counter ( $Countess^{TM}$  II FL Automated Cell Counter) was used to evaluate phytoplankton concentration and growth at regular intervals. Counting was performed at approximately 24-hour intervals, until plankton growth reached a concentration level of  $1 \cdot 10^6$  cell/mL. An aliquot of 100 µL was taken from each culture flask and fixated with 2 µL of Lugol's solution (Iodine 99.5%, Resublimed p.a., Thermo Scientific<sup>TM</sup>) in an eppendorf tube before counting. Lugol's is a strong solution composed of potassium-iodide and iodine, and can be used as an antiseptic agent [32]. From the prepared 100 µL aliquots, 10 µL were taken and pipetted twice into a Countess chamber slide ( $Countess^{@}$  II FL Hemacytometer), and inserted it into the instrument (Automated Cell Counter). The device then displayed the concentration of algae in the culture in cells/mL. Note that the instrument works according to the principle that it counts both live- and dead cells before reporting the average cell size in the sample; and the cell counting is performed at the central location of the counting chamber slide. To avoid the risk of contamination from residual samples, the chamber slides were cleaned with a 75% denatured alcohol disinfectant (DAX Ytdesinfektion 75+) before and after use.

#### 3.4 Filtration

After the phytoplankton had grown to a concentration of approximately  $1 \cdot 10^6$  cells/mL, the phytoplankton cultures were filtered using a polycarbonate membrane filter with a filter diameter of 25 mm and a pore size of 1  $\mu$ m (*Cytiva Whatman*<sup>TM</sup> *Cyclopore*<sup>TM</sup>). A vacuum pump was used to apply a transmembrane pressure of 17 kPa. Following filtration of the cultures, the phytoplankton was rinsed twice with 5 mL of filtered seawater. The containers were weighed both after filtration and rinsing to enable dilution and geometry corrections at activity measurement. Control samples were filtered and rinsed in the same way as the phytoplankton samples.

#### 3.5 Phytoplankton dry weight determination

The same filtration procedure as described above was applied to determine the dry weight of phytoplankton. However, the filters were rinsed twice with 5 mL of ammonium formate solution (NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>2</sub>) (Ammonium formate 99%, Acros Organics) instead of seawater. NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>2</sub> was used since it evaporates when heated to 60 °C and thus does not contribute any extra mass that could adhere to the filters. The cultures were dried in an oven at 60 °C for a period of approximately 24 hours. The dry weight of phytoplankton was determined by weighing the filters before filtration and again after drying. The mass difference corresponded to the total phytoplankton dry weight of all cells, with the number of cells obtained from the cell counter. The equivalent dry weight per cell could then be determined by dividing the mass difference obtained by the total number of cells in each culture (based on the latest calculated phytoplankton concentration values).

A salinity of 10% means that 10% (by weight) of the seawater is composed of sodium chloride (NaCl). Since the molar mass of NaCl ( $M_{NaCl}$ ) is known, its molar concentration ( $C_{NaCl}$ ) can be calculated according to the following:

$$C_{NaCl} = \frac{s}{M_{NaCl}}$$
(3.1)

where s is the salinity of the respective seawater.

Using the calculated  $C_{NaCl}$  relative to the respective salinity (32.86‰ and 10.03‰) from equation 3.1, the ammonium formate mass needed could then be determined as follows:

$$m_{\rm NH_4HCO_2} = C_{\rm NaCl} \cdot M_{\rm NH_4HCO_2} \cdot V \tag{3.2}$$

11

where  $M_{NH_4HCO_2}$  is the molar mass of ammonium formate, V is the desired volume of ammonium formate solution, while the remaining notations used is that described in the text above.

#### **3.6** Activity measurements

#### **3.6.1** Gamma spectroscopy

A HPGe detector (Ortec GEM 50P4) with an energy resolution of 1.65 keV at 1.33 MeV and a relative efficiency of 50% (Ametek, Inc., Oak Ridge, TN, USA) was used to measure the activity of the filtrates and filters from  $^{106}$ Ru and  $^{125}$ Sb The filtered seawater and filters containing phytoplankton were placed in [33]. cylindrical plastic containers with lids (Nolato Cerbo, Sweden) with a known mass and geometry. The detector had shielding consisting of Pb with a layer of Cu and Cd to reduce background radiation. The spectra obtained were analyzed using Gamma Vision software as described in section 2.1.2 (Spectrum analysis). The same HPGe detector was also used to measure any radioactive elements that may have sorbed to the wall of the culture flasks; where the amount of radioactivity sorbed onto the walls was found to be negligible. The measurement was performed until the uncertainty in the main  $\gamma$ -peak area was less than 3%. Background measurements were also performed to exclude noise and background radiation in the energy spectra. Geometric efficiency corrections were made using EFFTRAN version 4.2 to transfer efficiencies from a calibration source measured with containers identical to those used in this study (i.e. cylindrical plastic containers) [34].

#### 3.6.2 Liquid Scintillation Counting

A LSC (Packard Tri-Carb<sup>®</sup> 2100TR) with an energy range of 0 - 2000 keV was used to measure the activity of the samples containing  $^{63}$ Ni and to analyze the obtained spectrum. The samples containing 5 mL of the filtered seawater sample with  $^{63}$ Ni and 15 mL of the liquid scintillation cocktail (ULTIMA GOLD<sup>TM</sup> AB) were mixed in a plastic vial and then analyzed in the LSC. In order to calculate the activity concentrations of the radioactive samples, the counting efficiency in that particular sample must be known. Therefore, corrections for different efficiencies were made when measuring the filtrate and the samples with filters (both with and without plankton). This measurement contained three different variants (only seawater, filters without plankton and filters with plankton) with known  $^{63}$ Ni activity. It was accomplished by mixing the solution of the known activity together with the same liquid cocktail as described above in a plastic vial and analyze it in the LSC. Furthermore, a series of samples with different known activities was measured, and it was concluded that efficiency was constant (linear) for the different count rates (R), see Figure 3.1.



**Figure 3.1:** A known activity as a function of the count rate (R) to investigate the detector efficiency.

The efficiency calibration factors were calculated as following:

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon_{\text{filter}} = \frac{R_{\text{filter}} - B}{A_*} \\ \varepsilon_{\text{filtrate}} = \frac{R_{\text{filtrate}} - B}{A_*} \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

where  $A_*$  is the known activity in the samples, *B* is the background contribution,  $R_{filter}$  and  $R_{filtrate}$  is the measured count rate (counts per minute) by the LSC on the filter and filtrate, respectively.

These efficiencies ( $\varepsilon_{filter}$  and  $\varepsilon_{filtrate}$ ) were later used for the activity determination in equation 2.2. The detected activities in the control filters, plankton filters and filtrates were used to calculate the CF using equation 2.3.

#### 3. Materials and Methods

4

### **Results and Discussion**

#### 4.1 Phytoplankton growth

Sub-figures (a), (c), and (e) in Figure 4.1 shows the phytoplankton growth for samples where  $^{63}$ Ni,  $^{106}$ Ru and  $^{125}$ Sb were added to the seawater from Anholt E sampling station while sub-figures (b), (d), and (f) show the corresponding data for seawater from Karlsödjupet sampling station. The fitted line is an interpolation between the points which was made by MATLAB. The plankton concentrations at day 5 were similar for all experiments (for the different radionuclides), when considering the range of the measured concentrations. Which also indicates that the experiments are reproducible and that the methodology is robust. There was no visible difference in terms of phytoplankton growth rate in the seawater from Anholt E and Karlsödjupet; although for samples with addition of Ni and Ru, the algae had already grown to approximately  $10^6$  cells/mL after 5 days, in contrast to Sb which grew after 6 days as shown in Figure 4.1.



(a) PT growth in water from Anholt E with  $^{63}$ Ni addition.



(c) PT growth in water from Anholt E with  $^{106}$ Ru addition.



(e) PT growth in water from Anholt E with  $^{125}$ Sb addition.



(b) PT growth in water from Karlsödjupet with  $^{63}$ Ni addition.



(d) PT growth in water from Karlsödjupet with  $^{106}$ Ru addition.



(f) PT growth in water from Karlsödjupet with  $^{125}$ Sb addition.

**Figure 4.1:** *Phaeodactylum Tricornutum* growth with addition of <sup>63</sup>Ni, <sup>106</sup>Ru and <sup>125</sup>Sb in seawater from Anholt E and Karlsödjupet, respectively.

#### 4.2 Dry weight of phytoplankton

Table 4.1 shows phytoplankton dry weight values from the two seawater sampling stations. The dry weight was measured 5 days after cultivation and three replicates were used to calculate the average weight. The uncertainty was calculated as the standard deviation between the replicates. The dry mass of *P. Tricornutum* is slightly lower than the 35 pg/cell that can be calculated from the data reported by Fábregas et al. (1996) [35]. The organic mass according to Cresswell (2010) is 23 pg/cell for *P. Tricornutum*, which seems to imply that the results with respect to the phytoplankton dry weight are reasonable [36].

Table 4.1: Measured phytoplankton dry weight

Sampling station	Replicates	Average dry weight [pg]
Anholt E	3	$33 \pm 8$
Karlsödjupet	3	$26 \pm 4$

#### 4.3 Concentration factors

Equation 2.3 was used to calculate the CF for each sample separately. The average and uncertainty was calculated from the three replicates. The calculated CF for the different elements (Ni, Ru and Sb) in phytoplankton in seawater from Anholt E and Karlsödjupet, respectively is presented in Table 4.2. Raw data used in the calculation of CF can be seen in Table A.1 in appendix A.

**Table 4.2:** Calculated concentration factors for Ni, Ru and Sb in *P. Tricornutum*.All CF values determined refer to dry weight.

Element	Sampling station	Natural element concentration [nM]	Averaged CF [L/kg]	Literature CF [L/kg]
Ni	Anholt E	$83 \pm 5$	$4000 \pm 1200$	000 7800 [12]
	Karlsödjupet	$43 \pm 2$	$3800\pm500$	900 - 7800 [12]
Bu	Anholt E	$3 \pm 1$	$15000 \pm 1100$	300 55500 [12]
nu	Karlsödjupet	$48 \pm 7$	$20000 \pm 8000$	500 - 55500 [12]
Sh	Anholt E	$13 \pm 1$	$250\pm200$	1000 [18]
00	Karlsödjupet	< 0 ± -	$700 \pm -$	1000 [10]

There were large variations in the literature CF presented in Table 4.2. Furthermore, it was observed that a lower algae concentration resulted in a higher activity per algae cell. This might be related to the algae's effect on their chemical environment and specification, since the algae in this study grew to much higher concentrations in the culture flasks than they do in their natural environment (in the sea). In this manner, they have an opportunity to influence both the chemical composition of the seawater (culture filtrate) and the speciation of the added radionuclides in different

ways. On the other hand, a lot of the variation could also be due to the plankton dry weight mass used in the CF calculation, which was difficult to measure with high precision. Therefore the uncertainty in the determination of the total algae mass  $(m_{plankton})$  is large. So this is something that should be investigated more closely in future studies. There was no statistically significant difference between the CF measured in seawater from Anholt E compared to Karlsödjupet.

#### 4.3.1 Nickel

The mean calculated nickel CF in phytoplankton in seawater samples from the Anholt E and Karlsödjupet were 4000 and 3800 L/kg dry weight, respectively, as shown in Table 4.2. This approximately corresponds to 700 L/kg fresh weight for the respective sampling stations using IAEA's recommended conversion factor of 0.18 dry weight to fresh weight [12]. The CF values obtained in this study are within the range of previously published values, namely 160 - 1400 L/kg fresh weight [16, 17].

#### 4.3.2 Ruthenium

The mean calculated ruthenium CF in phytoplankton in seawater from Anholt E and Karlsödjupet were 15000 and 20000 L/kg dry weight, respectively; which approximately corresponds to 2700 and 3600 L/kg fresh weight, respectively using the same conversion factor as described above. The obtained CF-values lies within the wide range of previously reported literature data, (300 - 55000 L/kg dry weight) [12].

#### 4.3.3 Antimony

The mean calculated antimony CF in phytoplankton in seawater from Anholt E and Karlsödjupet were 250 and 700 L/kg, respectively. However, the CF value determined in the seawater from Anholt E is much lower than those reported in the literature (1000 kg/L), although it is unknown whether the published CF refers to fresh weight or dry weight [18]. There were large uncertainties in this CF (1000 kg/L) for Sb, partly due to that it was an estimated value for different types of plankton (which could be phytoplankton, zooplankton, etc.), and thus not specific to phytoplankton. Furthermore, no details are provided regarding how these CF were obtained. Therefore, it is not entirely unexpected that the CF value obtained in this study could be different. It should be mentioned that on one of the triplicates, the activity concentration was about four times higher (although the triplicates were near identical to each other). This data point was considered to be an outlier and was therefore excluded and hence standard deviation could not be calculated on the CF data due to insufficient measurement data. This regards to the calculated antimony CF in phytoplankton in seawater from Karlsödjupet presented in Table 4.2.

### Conclusion

In this study, dose relevant CF were experimentally determined for Ni, Ru and Sb for phytoplankton (*Phaeodactylum Tricornutum*), in sea water samples collected from the Baltic sea and Skagerrak sea. The CF for the elements studied were as follows: 4000 and 3800 L/kg for Ni; 15000 and 20000 L/kg for Ru and 250 and 700 L/kg for Sb. All CF values determined refer to dry weight for phytoplankton CF in Baltic sea and Skagerrak sea, respectively. Phytoplankton growth rates and dry weights are in good agreement with those found in the literature. In addition, the CF obtained in this study, had a smaller variation compared to the literature data, thus the uncertainties in the CF have been improved considerably. These CF will therefore provide a more realistic dose assessment. Furthermore, there are various phytoplankton species that have yet to be investigated. Likewise some dose-relevant elements (e.g. Eu, Sb, etc) for phytoplankton in the marine ecosystem. So this is something that could be good to study more closely in future studies, to reduce the uncertainties in CF.

#### 5. Conclusion

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisors for having faith in me and giving me the opportunity to execute this project.

Thank you **Klara Insulander Björk**, for the guidance and dedication in this project. Your great knowledge of the field not only made me grow but alto steered the project in the right direction. You had the ideal balance of allowing me to run the project on my own while also being available to assist me when needed; which I really appreciated.

Thank you **Rimon Thomas**, for your great guidance and encouragement throughout this project. Every discussion with you has allowed me to see things from a different perspective. With your guidance, I have been able to put my theoretical knowledge into practice.

Finally, many thanks goes to the Swedish Radiation Safety Authority (SSM), for financing this project under contract number SSM2020-642-24. Likewise, many thanks to The Royal Society of Arts and Sciences in Gothenburg (KVVS) for additional funding for equipment.

### Bibliography

- Strålsäkerhetsmyndigheten (SSM). Lokal miljöövervakning vid kärntekniska anläggningar. URL: https://www.stralsakerhetsmyndigheten.se/omraden/ miljoovervakning/radioaktiva-amnen/lokal-miljoovervakning-vidkarntekniska-anlaggningar/ (visited on 02/03/2022).
- [2] SVERIGES RIKSDAG. Utsläpp av radioaktivitet från kärnkraftverk. 2009. URL: https://www.riksdagen.se/sv/%20dokument-lagar/dokument/ interpellationsdebatt/utslapp-av-radioaktivitet-fran-%20karnkraftverk\_ GX10313 (visited on 02/23/2022).
- [3] Strålsäkerhetsmyndigheten (SSM). Vägledning med bakgrund och motiv till Strålsäkerhetsmyndighetens föreskrifter (2018:1) om grundläggande bestämmelser för tillståndspliktig verksamhet med joniserande strålning. Strålsäkerhetsmyndigheten, SSMFS 2018:1.
- [4] Andersson, P., Carlsson, M., Falk, R., Hubbard, L., Leitz, W., Mjönes, L., Möre, H., Nyblom, L., Söderman, A.L., Y.Lasson, K., Åkerblom, G. and Öhlen, E. *The radiation environment in Sweden*. SSI Rapport 2007:02.
- Sveriges Vattenmiljö. Växtplankton. 2020. URL: https://www.sverigesvattenmiljo. se/sa-mar-vara-vatten/2021/variabelgrupper/85/12/62 (visited on 02/09/2022).
- [6] CENTRAL & NORTHERN CALIFORNIA OCEAN OBSERVING SYSTEM. Phytoplankton Facts. URL: https://www.cencoos.org/focus-areas/habs/ phytoplankton-facts/ (visited on 02/16/2022).
- [7] Tidskriften Havsutsikt. Kiselalger ger oss vart femte andetag. 2014. URL: https: //www.havet.nu/havsutsikt/artikel/kiselalger-ger-oss-vartfemte-andetag (visited on 02/12/2022).
- [8] Svensk Botanisk Tidskrift. Kiselalgernas egendomliga evolutionshistoria. 2010. URL: http://www.diva-portal.org/smash/get/diva2:1203115/FULLTEXT01. pdf (visited on 02/12/2022).
- [9] Apt, A E., Kroth-Pancic, P G., Grossman, A R. "Stable nuclear transformation of the diatom Phaeodactylum tricornutum". In: *Journal of Phycology* (1996), 252(5): 572–9.
- [10] KiMRA, Y., OoAwz, N., HoNDx, Y and KATsuRAYAMA, K. "Studies on the Concentration of Radioactive Substances by Plankton, Chlorella pyrenoidosa". In: *Hoken Butsuri* (1990), 25: 361–368.

- [11] Swedish National Space Agency (Rymdstyrelsen). Plankton bevakas från rymden. 2020. URL: https://www.rymdstyrelsen.se/upptack-rymden/bloggen/ 2020/05/plankton-bevakas-fran-rymden/ (visited on 02/01/2022).
- [12] International Atomic Energy Agency. Handbook of Parameter Values for the Prediction of Radionuclide Transfer to Wildlife. Technical Reports Series No. 479, IAEA, Vienna (2014).
- [13] INTERNATIONAL COMMISSION ON RADIOLOGICAL PROTECTION. Environmental Protection: Transfer Parameters for Reference Animals and Plants. Puplication 114, Volume 39 No. 6, ICRP, (2019).
- Periáñez, R., Bezhenar, I., Brovchenko, C., Duffa, M., Iosjpe, K.T., Jung, K.O., Kim, T., Kobayashi, L., Liptak, A., Little, V., Maderich, P., McGinnity, B.I., Min, H., Nies I., Osvath, K.S. and Suh, G. "Marine radionuclide transport modelling: Recent developments, problems and challenges". In: *Environmental Modelling & Software* (2019), 122: 125–143.
- [15] Health Physics Society. Human Health Fact Sheet (Nickel). 2001. URL: http:// hpschapters.org/northcarolina/NSDS/nickel.pdf (visited on 02/22/2022).
- [16] BOWEN, H.J.M. *Environmental chemistry of the elements*. New York : Academic Press, 1979.
- [17] ANCELLIN, J., GUEGUENIAT, P., GERMAINE, P. Radioecologie Marine. Eyrolles, Paris, 1979.
- [18] International Atomic Energy Agency. Revised Definition and Recommendations Concerning High-level Radioactive Waste Unsuitable for Dumping at Sea. Technical Reports Series No. 211, IAEA, Vienna (1978).
- [19] Nakamaru, Y., Tagami, K and Uchida, Sh. "Antimony mobility in Japanese agricultural soils and the factors affecting antimony sorption behavior". In: *Environmental Pollution* (2006), 141: 321–326.
- [20] Montserrat, F., Nelson, B., Yu-Wei Chen. "Antimony in the environment: a review focused on natural waters I. Occurrence". In: *Earth-Science Reviews* (2002), 57 (2002) 125–176.
- [21] Knoll, Glenn F. Radiation Detection And Measurement (3:rd ed.). John Wiley Sons Inc, 2009, pp. 352–504.
- [22] Engineering 360. Radiation Detectors Information. URL: https://www.globalspec. com/learnmore/sensors\_transducers\_detectors/environmental\_sensors/ radiation\_detectors (visited on 04/04/2022).
- [23] Isaksson, M. Grundläggande strålningsfysik (3:rd ed.). Studentlitteratur AB, 2019, pp. 128–135.
- [24] GammaVision<sup>®</sup> Maestro-PRO<sup>®</sup> Software User's Manual ORTEC. Gamma-Ray Spectrum Analysis and MCA Emulators for Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Windows<sup>®</sup> 7, 8.1, and 10 Professional. 2020. URL: https://www.ortec-online.com/-/media/ ametekortec/manuals/a/a66-mnl.pdf?la=en&revision=dd63bfec-f5cd-4579-8201-e81a52f7fb78 (visited on 03/04/2022).
- [25] Hult, M. and Lutter, G. "Detection of <sup>106</sup>Ru, via the decay of its daughter <sup>106</sup>Rh, in gamma-ray spectra". In: *European Atomic Energy Community* (2017), pp. 1–16.
- [26] C.J. da Silva, E.A. Rezende, R. Poledna, L. Tauhata, A. Iwahara, and R.T. LopesLNHB. "Standardization of <sup>106</sup>Ru/Rh by live-timed anticoincidence count-

ing and gamma emission determination". In: Applied Radiation and Isotopes (2017), 122(2017): 37–40.

- [27] WIKIPEDIA. Lab liq scin basic LSC detect sketch. URL: https://wiki.uio. no/mn/safe/nukwik/index.php/File:Lab\_liq\_scin\_basic\_LSC\_detect\_ sketch.jpg (visited on 05/19/2022).
- [28] WIKIPEDIA. Scintillation counter. URL: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/ Scintillation\_counter (visited on 05/07/2022).
- [29] R. Nader. Principles of Basic Techniques and Laboratory Safety. ScienceDirect. 2018. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/topics/medicine-and-dentistry/scintillation-counting#:~:text=Typical%5C%20efficiencies% 5C%20for%5C%20liquid%5C%20scintillation, solvent%5C%20and%5C% 20the%5C%20primary%5C%20scintillator) (visited on 04/10/2022).
- [30] Guillard R.R.L. "Culture of Phytoplankton for Feeding Marine Invertebrates. pp. 29-60 in: W.L. Smith and H.H. Chanley (eds.). Culture of Marine Invertebrate Animals." In: *Plenum Press, New York* (1975).
- [31] Fisher, N. S and Reinfelder J. R. "Assimilation of selenium in the marine copepod Acartia tonsa studied with a radiotracer ratio method". In: *Mar. Ecol* (1991), 70: 157–164.
- [32] NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE. Lugol's solution. URL: https://www. cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-drug/def/lugolssolution (visited on 05/07/2022).
- [33] ORTEC GEM Series Coaxial HPGe Radiation Detectors. ORTEC. URL: https: //www.ortec-online.com/-/media/ametekortec/brochures/g/gem.pdf? la=en&revision=cf45d0c5-a261-4a9f-882d-443a30d03342 (visited on 02/19/2022).
- [34] Vidmar, T. "EFFTRAN a Monte Carlo efficiency transfer code for gammaray spectrometry". In: Nuclear Instruments and Methods (2005), 550: 603– 608.
- [35] Fábregas, J., Patiño, M., Morales, E. D., Cordero, B, Otero, A. "Optimal Renewal Rate and Nutrient Concentration for the Production of the Marine Microalga Phaeodactylum tricornutum in Semicontinuous Cultures". In: Applied and Environmental Microbiology (1996), 62(1): 266–268.
- [36] Cresswell, L. "Phytoplankton Culture for Aquaculture Feed". In: SRAC Publication (2010), No. 5004.

Ι

Element	Sampling	Algae cells [ncs]	Algae mass [mø]	Filtrate volume [ml]	${ m A_{cfilter}}$ [MBa/ko]	${ m A_{cfiltrate}}$ [kB $_{ m C}/{ m I_{c}}$ ]	Sample CF [ko/L]	
		57 326 882	1.9	25.8	711 246.7	191 240.8	3719.1	
	Anholt E	37002625	1.2	24.8	$1 \ 262 \ 723.5$	236  100.8	5348.2	
NT:		51 596 390	1.7	24.3	$686 \ 483.0$	228 697.8	3001.7	
INI		792 500	0.5	26.0	1 555 711.6	$356 \ 626.3$	4362.3	
	Karlsödjupet	$1 \ 312 \ 500$	0.9	25.8	$1 \ 324 \ 826.8$	$395 \ 254.5$	3351.8	
		$1 \ 627 \ 500$	1.1	26.1	$1\ 212\ 272.0$	322 307.2	3761.2	
		$33 \ 320 \ 625$	1.1	26.7	49.8	4.4	11318.6	
	Anholt E	$27 \ 429 \ 677$	0.9	30.1	53.6	4.0	13467.5	
C		$18 \ 692 \ 876$	0.6	30.4	103.4	2.8	37489.1	
nu		10 010 120	4 D		C ()		0 0001 1	

**Table A.1:** An overview of the experiment with the data obtained.  $A_i$  is the activity on the plankton filters and  $A_{\rm c}$  is the activity concentration in the filtrate.

#### A. Appendix

# A

### Appendix

 $\frac{14306.6}{35463.0}$  $\frac{28379.8}{28379.8}$ 

 $\frac{4.0}{3.4}$ 

56.9104.0

28.028.528.0

0.6

Karlsödjupet

1.2

 $48 \ 042 \ 158$ 

 $0.7 \\ 0.9$ 

 $\frac{478.4}{108.3}$ 

808.4

386.7

32.2

 $\frac{1.3}{1.1}$ 

Anholt E

97.5

800.3854.4

86.6130.0

 $\frac{30.8}{32.7}$   $\frac{24.8}{25.3}$ 

 $\frac{31\ 791\ 882}{28\ 174\ 014}$ 

Sb

 $\begin{array}{c} 40 \ 864 \ 216 \\ 20 \ 950 \ 373 \end{array}$ 

Karlsödjupet

1811.6

189.1

171.4

206.8180.5

10340.8

 $\frac{342.5}{206.8}$ 1 866.3

24.9

0.5

### UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

